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CASTEL, U.S.D.J.

| Plaintiffs (collectively, “Cartica”) bring this action, alleging that defendants
committed securities fraud in connection with d forthcoming merger of CorpBanca and Banco
Itat Chile. Cartica asserts claims pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “’34 Act™), 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4(b), Rule 10b-57p1'omulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5, Section 13(d) of the 34 Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78m, and Rules 13d-1 and 13d-5
promulgated thereunder, 17 C.F.R. § 240.13d-1 and 17 C.F.R. § 240.13d-5, and Section 20(a) of
the *34 Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t. Cartica also asserts a claim for common law fraud. It requests
injunctive relief on its federal securities claims, but seeks darnages on its common law fraud

claim. The defendants move to dismiss.

In Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723 (1975), the Supreme

Court examined the text of section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 and concluded that a claim could not be
asserted by a shareholder who was neither a “purchaser” nor “seller” in relation to the alleged
fraud. Blue Chip was decided in the context of a money damages claim and, since then, neither

the Supreme Coutt nor the Second Circuit has decided whether a claim for injunctive relief is

subject to the same rule. This Court accepts the District of Columbia Circuit’s reasoning that
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“[w]hile it may be possible to discern differences between an action for @ésnaag a suit for
an injunction, most of the Supreme Court’s argument in Blue Chip applies quite as much to the

latter as to the former.Corwin v. Bresler, 741 F.2d 410, 424 (D.C. Cir. 1984). As will be

explained, this Court applies the purchasesader rule to Cartica’s section 10(b) claim and
dismisses that claim.

With respect to Cartica’s section 13(d) claim, there is no purchasereaar sell
requirement anthus Cartica may assert such a claim. However, on a ntotiismissthis
Court may properly consider the text of the disclosures alleged to be falsect@er
disclosures made by certain defendants foreclose Cartica’s claim for wmguradtef andthat
claim will be dismissed as well. Because the complaint fails to plead a primary viplatio
Cartica’ssection20(a) clains are alsalismissed. With all federal claims dismissed, the Court

declines to exercise supplemental jurisdiction over the camawe fraud claims.

|. Background

For the purposes of defendants’ motions, all oonelusory factual allegations

are accepted as true, geghcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009), and all reasonable inferences are

drawn in favor of the plaintiff as non-movareeln re Elevator Antitrust Litig.502 F.3d 47,

50 (2d Cir. 2007).

a. Parties

Defendant CorpBanca, S.A. is a publittgted company based in Santiago
Chile, organized under the laws of Chile and licensed by the Chilean SuperintendBaokof
and Financial Institutions to operate as a commercial bank. (Am. Compl. § 38bjast to
the reporting requirements of the Chilean Superintendencgaifrfies and Insurance and files
periodic reports, known as “material fact notices,” with the Superintendency.. Gémpl.

39.) CorpBanca shares are traded on the Santiago Stock Exchange and ChileamcElect
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Exchange. (Am. Compl. 1 39.) CorpBanca’s ADRs are traded on the NYSE under the symbol
“BCA.” (Am. Compl. T 40.)

Plaintiff Cartica first purchase@orpBanca shares in October 2012, apparently
extraterritorially. On January 18, 201R,purchased 1.2 millioAmerican Depository Receipts
(“ADRS") in United States transactions hgr CorpBanca’s public offeringg (Am. Compl. |
33.) The Cartica funds ovapproximatelyll billion shares, including common shares and
shares represented by ADRSs, representing approximately 3.22% of CorpBautséanding
common stock. (Am. Compl. { 36.)

DefendantAlvaro Saieh BendeckSaieh”)is the Chairman and controlling
shareholder of privately-held Corp Group and the controlling shareholder of CorpBengght
Corp Group and other investments. (Am. Compl. § 43.) As of December 31520413,
controlled approximately 50.44% of CorpBanca’s outstanding shares through holding
companiesincluding defendants Corp Group Banking S.A., which holds approximately 45.26%
of CorpBanca’s common shares, and Compani@biliaria y de Inversiones Saga Limitada
(“Saga”), which holds approximately 5.18% of CorpBanca’s common shares. (Anpl.Gdm
44, 46-47) According to CorpBanca’s 2012 Zform, Saiehheld shares with sufficient voting
power to approve all forms of corporate action subject to decision by shareholdetisigs.

(Am. Compl. § 45.) Corp Growgdsohas a controlling interest in SMU (Chile’s thilargest
supermarket operator), Copesa (a media conglomerate), and real estaterandarsuerations.

(Am. Compl. § 43.) The Court refers to these defendants collectively as “Corp Grdabp” or

! Cartica Management, LLC, an investment advisor registered witBERg is a Delaware LLC with its principal
place of business in Washington DC. (Am. Carfi81.) Plaintiffs Cartica Corporate Governance Fund, LP,
Cartica Investors, LP, and Cartica Capital Partners Master, LP are each prigatmént funds managed by
Cartica Management, LLC, and are the beneficial owners of CorpBanca ADRs aiwhatidbrpBanca shares.
(Am. Compl. 1 32.) Cartica Investors I, L.P., another fund meahdy Cartica Management, LLC, is the beneficial
owner of CorpBanca shares. (Am. Compl. 1 32.)
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“Corp Group defendants.” Defendants also include directors and officers of CogpBam.
Compl. 11 48, 56, 59-60.)

Defendanttat Unibanco Holding S.Ais apublicly-held corporation organized
under the laws of Brazilltal’s preferred shares have tradedhe form of ADRs on the NYSE,
under the symbol “ITUB” since February 200au files Form 26Fs and Form 4Ks with the
SEC. (Am. Compl. 1 61.)Defendat Bancoltau Chile is a subsidiary dfat Unibanco Holding
S.A. and is a corporation organized under the laws of Chile. (Am. Compl. 1 62.)

b. The Transaction at Issue

CorpBanca anttat announced in January 2014 that they entered into a proposed
merger greemen(the “Transaction Agreement”Am. Compl. T 91.)If the merger is
approved, 172 billion new shares of CorpBanca stock will be issued to the shareholders of Banco
Itad Chile. The current shareholders of CorpBanca will retain 66.42% of the siitine
merged bank. After closing, the aggregate number of shares of the merged bardteetie
from 340billion to 512billion duly subscribed and fully paid shares. (Slocum Decl. Ex. 4.)
Saieh gained a majority interest in CorpBanca in 1926n. Compl. § 63.)He
does not have sufficient voting power to approve the propogeder which requires a vote of
two-thirds or more shareholders. (Am. Compl. 1 138.)
SMU, the supermarket operator controlled by Corp Gringt,$720 million in
the first nine months of 2013SMU disclosed accounting errors and increased its stated
liabilities in a restatement. (Am. Compl. T 7Gaiehfired 7,000 SMU employees, returned as
chairman of SMWs board, and injected $300 million into the chain, 60% of which were from his
personal funds. (Am. Compl. 1 71.)
On November 29, 2013, CorpBanca disclosed that it had retained “international

investment banks” to analyze “potential transactions” involving the bank and other bank
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operators. (Am. Compl. 11 82, 140.) On December 6, 2013, Moody’s cut CorpBanca’s credit
rating from Baa3 to Baaz2, citing the problems at SMU. (Am. Compl. § 84.)

In December 2013, Saieh and CorpBanca made public statements that they would
only accept a bithatwould permit Saieh to retain some control of CorpBanca. (Am. Compl.
102.) Concerned by these statements, Cartica’s director, Tessa Bargerthnsztiah in New
York on December 9, 2013, and stated, in substandeanlyaransaction that included special
benefits for Saieh that “did not inure to all shareholders equally would unaccegtably
unlawfully shift value from minority shareholders to Saieh.” On December 20, 201&ttara
to Saieh, Barger restated theed to secure the highest value for all shareholders. (Am. Compl.
1 102.) Saieh affirmed to Cartica that he would not seek personal benefits, butwbatde
seek a transaction with the maximum benefit for all shareholders. (Am. Compl. { 2329 B
on Saieh’s representations, Cartica purchased an additional 188 million CorpBaesaasd
continued to hold its CorpBanca ADRs. (Am. Compl. 1 103.) Cartica does not allege that the
additional shares were purchased within the United States, and the sharésgasstied from
ADRs, are not alleged to be publically traded in the United States.

On January 29, 201€orpBanca announced that it reached an agreement in
which Itat would merge its Chilean and Colombian units with CorpBanca. (Am. Compl. {1 91.)
The Transaction Agreement provided that Corp Group would vote its CorpBanca shares in favor
of the proposed merger. (Slocum Decl. Ex. 8.1. 8 4.4(qg)

On January 30, 2014, the day after the announcement of the transaction,
defendants provided disclosures to certain shareholders in an early morning meetmght
Cartica was not invited. (Am. Compl.  107.) Defendants also provided disclosures about the

transaction via a public call. (Am. Compl. 1 106, 183orpBancdiled a 6K which



annouredthe agreement and attacreterger Notice (Am. Compl. § 151.) On the same
date, CorpBanca filed a separ&tam 6K disclosingthat it had announced the merger via a
press release, which characterized the merger as a-fstestock transaction.” (Am. Compl. |
152.)

In February 2014, Cartica purchased an additional 2 billion CorpBanca shares.
(Am. Compl.§ 105). Cartica does not allege that the additional shares were purchased in the
United States.

In March2014,CorpBanca issued a publidter responding to questions raised
by Cartica. (Am. Compl. 1 154.) CorpBarataopublished a series of questions and answers,
which included some of trelegedbenefits Saieh would reap from the transaction. (Am.
Compl. 1 155.)

On March 14, 2014, defendants discloseddhé of theTransaction Agreement
and the Shareholders Agreement on CorpBanca’s website. (Am. Compl. {CHD8ch alleges
that the Shareholders Agreement and Transaction Agreement provide specitd tteBaieh
and Corp Group at the expense of minority shareholders, incltidirfgllowing (i) Itad’s
subsidiary will provide Corp Group with a $1.2 billion credit line at a highly favorableestte
rate; (ii) the postmerger bank will purchase all of Corp Group’s CorpBanca Colombia shares for
an inflated priceand(iii) Corp Group will receive put and call right$he complaint allegdabat
Corp Group will receivadditional rightor benefits which “represent[] a transfer of value from
the Bank’s shareholders to CorpGroup.” (Am. Comp. 1 110.)

On May 29, 2014, the Corp Group defendants filed a Schedule 13D, which they

amended on June 24, 2014. (Am. Compl. § 132; Slocum Decl. Ex. 15.) On July 7t&2014,



Unibanco Holding S.A. filed a Schedule 13D relating to the common shares of CorpBanca.
(Rodriguez Decl. Ex. 3.)

Because the transaction at issue is a merger transaction in which sharedfolders
Banco Itau Chile would exchange their sisareBanco Itat Childor shares of CorpBanca,
Cartica would own the exact number of shares and ADRs of CorpBanca aftanatiorthat
it owned before the transaction. It is forced to part wtitherits sharesor its ADRs. Cartica
does not (nor could it) challenge the fairness or adequacy of the transaction indbexiprg,
which is a matter of the fiduciary duties of directors of a Chilean entity.fébleeal securities
claims relate solely to the adequacy and propriety of discloslilessamended complaint
alleges that defendants have made misleading stateamehtsnission@ their filings with the
SEC, public statements, and private statements. (Am. Compl. {1 133, 139-68.)

c. Procedural History

Cartica filed the initial complaint in thiaction on April 1, 2014. After a
conference with the Couyr€artica filed an amended complaiatidingthe Itat defendants
(Docket # 48.) Cartica’s claims against defendants Fernando Aguad Dagaclgelarge
Zaror, Rafel Guilisati Gana, Francisdeeon Délano, Francisco Mobarec Asfura, Gustavo
Arrigada Morales, José Luis Mardones Santander,aMaatalina Saieh Guzmaand Ana
Beatriz Holuigue Barros have beeoluntarily dismissed without prejudice. (Docket # 77.) This
Court previouslydenied Cartica motion to lift the PSLRA discovery stay. (Docket # 113.)

[l. Legal Standarden a Motion to Dismiss

Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), Fdgl. Civ. P., to survive a motion ttismiss, “a
complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘sfaiendo relief that is

plausible on its face.””Ashcroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotiBe]l Atlantic Corp.

v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). Legal conclusions are not entitled to the presumption of
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truth, and a cotirassessing the sufficiency of a complaint disregards.théminstead, the
Court must examine only the welleaded factual allegations, if any, “and then determine
whetherthey plausibly give rise to an entitlement to reliefd’ at 679. When reweing a
motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), a court “may consider any written iaatrum
attached to the complaint, statements or documents incorporated into the compkfietance,
legally required public disclosure documents filed with the SEC, and documents pfsesse

known to the plaintiff and upon which it relied in bringing the suRTSI Comnt'ns, Inc. v.

Shaar Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 98 (2d Cir. 2007).

[1l. The Section 10(b) Claim for Injunctive Relief

a. TheBlue Chip Rule

i. Requiremat of Purchase or Sale

In Blue Chip, 421 U.S. at 755, the Supreme Court held that only purchasers or
sellers of securities had standing to bring a claim under section 10(b). Thergt@nguage of
section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 prohibit manipulation or deception “in connection with the
purchase or sale of any securityl U.S.C. § 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. Endorsing the

view of the Second Circuit as expresse@imbaum v. Newport Steel Corp., 193 F.2d 461 (2d

Cir. 1952) (A. Hand, J.), the Court determined that “[tlhe wording of § 10(b) directed at fraud ‘i

connection with the purchase or sale’ of securities.” Blue Chip, 421 U.S. at 733.

2Wheninterpreting the Securities Litigation Uniform Standards fwSupreme Court interpreted the language of
section 10(b) and Rule 1&bmore broadly Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Inc. v. Dgtb47 U.S. 71, 85
(2006) (citingSEC v. Zanford535 U.S. 813, 820 (2002) ahbhited States v. O'Haga®21 U.S. 642651) In

Dabit, the Supreme Court expressly stateat “[w]e do not here revisit the Blue Chip Stantusurt’s

understanding of the equities involved in limiting the availabditprivate remedies under federal law; we are
concerned instead with Congress’ intent in adopting @&pmgtion provision, the evident purpose of which is to
limit the availability of remedies under state laviDabit, 547 U.S. at 88 n.13SeealsoAshland Inc. v. Morgan
Stanley & Co, Inc, 652 F.3d 333, 338 n.2 (2d Cir. 2011) (“Typically, a ‘holder’ of securitigsslatanding to
prosecute a claim under the federal securities laws.”); Amorosa v. AOL TaneeWinc, 409 F. App'x 412, 417
(2d Cir. 2011) (“[T]his Court agrees .that the Supreme Court did not announcBaiit that Rule 10k provided

a cause of action for a “holder” claim. Indeed, the Supreme Court specificalgtediithat it was not revisiting the
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ThenJustice Rehnquist, writing for the Court, noted that, in contrast to section
10(b), other provisions in theecurities Act of 183 (the “’33 Act”) and ‘34Acts werenot
limited by the “purchase or sale” languagesection 10(b) or Rule 10b-5. The Court stated that
“l[wlhen Congress wished to provide a remedy to those who neitinenase nor sell securities,
it had little trouble in doing so expressiyid. at 734 (comparing section 16(b) of the '34 Act, 15
U.S.C. § 78p(b)). Additionally, the Court noted that the private civil remedies for violations of
section 11(a) of the ‘33 Act and sections 9, 12, and 18 of the ‘34 Act, created by Congress at the
time section 10(b) was enacted, were expressly limited to purchasers oraetlecsirities,
concluding that “[i]t would indeed be anomalous to impute to Congress an intention to expand
the plaintiff class for a judicially implied cause of action beyond the boundsnieaed for
comparable express causes of actidd.’at 736.

The Court also noted that after Birnbaum, the SEC twice sought amendment of
section 10(b) to include the language “in connection with the purchase or sale of atteapt
to purchase or sell, any security.” Congress dicenatt achange on either occasiold. at
732.

ii. Policy Considerations

Memorably, Justice Rehnquist observed that “[w]hen ead dith private actions
under Rule 106, we deal with a judicial oak which has grown from little more than a legislative
acorn.” Id. at 737.Because it is a judiciallgraftedimplied right of actionthe Court, not
“suggesting that we are able to divine from the language of § 10(b) the express ‘intent of
Congress’ as to the contours of a private cause of action under R tLBbed to policy

considerations that could suggest a result different than that reached orutioeystaialysis.ld.

limitation of standing to purchasers and sellers of secsitii@ had been previously announceBlure Chip”
(internal citations omitteql)
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The Gurt recognized thdhe “purchase or sale” requirement barred three classes
of potential plaintiffsfrom bringing claims under section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5, including “actual
shareholders in the issuer who allege that they decided not to sell their shavse lné@n
unduly rosy representation or a failure to disclose unfavorable matddaht 737-38. Noting
that such exclusion was a “disadvantagethe requirement, the Court held that “we are of the
opinion that there are countervailing advantages to the Birnbaenpurely as a matter of
policy, although those advantages are more difficult to articulate than is#uvalntage.ld. at
739.

Foremost among the advantagess preventingotentialy vexatious claims:

“[w]e believe that the concern expressed for the danger of vexatiousdnigetich could result
from awidely expanded class of plaintiffs under Rule 10b-5 is founded in something more
substantial than the common complaintt@@many defendants who would prefer avoiding
lawsuits entirely to either settling them or trying therid” at 739. Additionally, the Court

noted that purchases and sales of shares are documented gneeaéiable whereas claims
based upon an assertion that a shareholder would like to buy or sell will turn largely on oral
testimony about subjective intentionsl. at 742. It alsoconsideredhe settlement pressures and
disruption of business resulting from unresolved claifdsat 740.

b. The Application of Blue Chip Stamps to Claims for Injunctive Relief
is an Open Question in this Circuit

“[D]istrict courts and other inferior courts are bound by decisions of the Court of
Appeals in the appropriate circuit unless overruled by an intervening Supremel&uosiin or

other change in law.United States v. Moreno, 3t-165 (SS), 2000 WL 1843232, at *5

(S.D.N.Y. Dec. 14, 2000) (Sotomayor, J.) (citing Ithaca Coll. V. NLRB, 623 F.2d 224, 228 (2d

Cir. 1980). The express holding_in Blue Chip was “that respondent was not entitled to sue for
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violation of Rule 10b-5. . . .” Blue Chip, 421 U.S. at 755. As will be discussed, the Second
Circuit hasnot heldthatits preBlue Chipprecedent that allowed injung claims under section
10(b) by one who is neither a purchaser nor seller of securities survived Blue Chips This i
consistent with Judge Cote’s observatiloat“since the Supreme Court’s decision in Blue Chip,
the Second Circuit has not authorizedaahon for injunctive relief unless the complainant was a

purdchaser or seller of securitiegGlobal Intellicom, Inc. v. Thomson Kernaghan & Co.,@®0-

342 (DLC), 1999 WL 544708, at *8 (S.D.N.Y. July 27, 1999)is useful to review the history
of thepurchaseor seller rule in the Second Circuit.

i. Second Circuit Lavbefore Blue Chip

Almost twenty five years prior to the Supreme Court’s opinion in Blue Chip, the
Second Cirait heldthat shareholders could not bring a claim for damages under Rule 10b-5
absent a “purchase or sale” of securitiesBimbaum, 193 F.2d 461, shareholders, suing on
behalf of the corporation and other shareholders, alleged thatrtiganypresident and
members of the board of directors defrauded the plaintiffs by providing misegpatons in
mailings to the shareholders regarding a rejected tender offer and thergiresiale of his stock
in the corporationld. at 462. The Second Circuit found that “[tlhe absence of a provision
[expressly providing an issuer or stockholder with a right of action] in Section dt@€bpthens
the conclusion that that section was directed solely at that type of migmtates or fraudulent
practice usually associated with the sale or purchase of securities ratheir friaaulent
mismanagement of corporate affairs, and that Ruilb-5] extended protection only to the
defrauded purchaser or selletd. at 464.

After Birnbaum, bubeforeBlue Chip the Seconircuit held that there was a

narrow exception to the “purchase or sale” requirement when plaintiffs sougthijomigtive

relief. InMutual Shares Corp. v. Genesco, 384 F.2d 540 (2d Cir. 1967), the Second Circuit held
-11 -



thatBirnbaum did not bar standing for an injunctive relief claim brought by shareholders
pursuant to Rule 10b-5. In Mutual Shares, the plaintiffs alleged that defendants acquired 94.6%
of the stock in S. H. Kress and Compdfiress”), deceived plaintiffs into buying shares of
stock in Kress, which plaintiffs held at the time of the complaint, and continued to defraud the
by operatingKress against its corporate interest to the detriment of the minority sharsholder
Id. at 542. The Second Circuit held that the fact that the plainti&fid not sold their shares at a
depressed pricgid not barthe claim for injunctive relief. “The complaint alleges a manipulative
scheme which is still continuing. While doubtless the Commission could seek to halt such
practices, present stockholders also logical plaintiffs to play an important role in enforcement
of the Act in this way.”ld. at 546-47. The Second Circuit distinguished claims for damages
under 10b-5, noting that

the claim for damages on this theory founders both on

proof of loss ad the causal connection with the alleged

violation of the Rule; on the other hand, the claim for

injunctive relief largely avoids these issues, may cure harm

suffered by continuing shareholders, and would afford

complete relief against the Rule 1Blviolation for the
future.

Id. at 547.

ii. Second Circuit Lawfger Blue Chip

Blue Chipwas decided eight years after Mutual Shaaesl the Second Circuit
has not explicitlyruled on the question of whether claims for injunctive relief pursuasgdtion
10(b) orRule10b-5 may be brought when the plaintiff is neither a purchaseseailer of

securitienn a domestic marketSome courts have relied on Crane Co. v. American Standard,

Inc., 603 F.2d 244 (2d Cir. 1979)Ctane 1II'), for the proposition tht Mutual Sharessurvived

Blue Chip. But that was not the holding @fanelll. InCrane Ill the Second Circuit, relying

on Piper v. Chrig€raft Indus,. 430 U.S. 1 (1977), found that Crametender offerorlid not have
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standing to sue for damages under 10(b) and Rule 1@&nelll, 603 F.2d at 251. The court
noted that “we adhere to our ruling in Crane | that Crane had standing to sue faniejtelef

.7 1d. at 251 n.15.In Crane Co v. Westinghouse Air Brake Company, 419 F.2d 787, 798 (2d

Cir. 1969) (“Crane I"), relying on Vine v. Beneficial Finance Co., 374 F.2d 627, 635 (2d Cir.

1967), the court found that Crane, a holder of Air Brake stock, had standing for injuniagfye re
because Crane was a minority shareholder in a-strontmerger who would be forced to sell its
shares for cash. “The effect of Standard’s deception and manipulation vedsrtdid Brake
shareholders from tendering to Crane. The success of Standard’s maneuveranadef@iced
seller of the newly issued&tdard convertible preferred under threat of a divestiture action to be

brought by Standard under the antitrust lanSrane ) 419 F.2d at 798SeeCrane Co v.

American Standard, Inc., 490 F.2d 332, 336 (2d Cir. 1973) (“Crane II").

The Second Circuit’'s holding @ranel relied on theVine “forced seller”
exception to the Birnbaum rulén Vine, the Second Circuit held that if, in the context of a
short-form merger, a plaintiff would be forced to sell his shares of a corporatioithdaytke
tender offer provided or appraisal rights, the plaintiff became party el ‘&f securities.
“Since, in order to realize any value for his stock, appellant must exchange #gefeshanoney
from appellee, as a practical matter appellant must eventually become a party to &s‘sade:,
term has always been used/ine, 374 F.2d at 634. Accordingly, the Second Circuit found that

the plaintiff had alleged a “safeUnlike in Crane I(*“The present case falls within the rationale

of Vine, where we held that a minority shareholder in a short form merger is a ‘selte’rs is

entitled only to cash for his sharesdhdCrane ll| theVine rationale is not at issue here, as

shareholders of CorpBanca, including the plaintiff, will continue to hold shatke @ifrviving

corporation after the merger is consummated.
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SinceCrane 1| the Second Circuit has twiteuched upon in dicta the issue of
standing for non-purchasers or sellers seeking injunctive relief under sectiprad®Rule 10b-

5. In United Satesv. Newman 664 F.2d 12 (2d Cir. 1981), the court reversed the district court’s

dismissal of a criminal indictment charging the defendant with violations tbsd®(b) and

Rule 10b-5. The court held that in a criminal prosecution, a fraud perpetrated upon pumrhasers
sellers of securities was not a requisite element of the crime of securitiesioting that

“[l] ong before appellee undertook to participate in the fraudulent scheme alleged in the
indictment, this Court, and other Courts of Appeals as well, had held that a plairdifiotdge a
defrauded purchaser or seller in order to sue for injunctive relief under Rute IUiese

holdings were consistent with the language of Rule 10b-5, which contains no specific
requirement that fraud be perpetrated upon the seller or buyer of secutdiest.”7. (citing

Crane lll 419 F.2d at 78lutual Shares384 F.2d at 546-47; Kahan v. Rosenstiel, 424 F.2d

161, 173 (3d Cir. 1970ritt v. Cyril Bath Co, 417 F.2d 433, 436 (6th Cir. 1969)). i¥h

statement, made in a criminal case, does not condditbezond Circuit holding that the Mutual
Sharesxception survived Blue Chip.
Perhaps the clearest statement that the issue remains open in this Circuit comes

from the Second Circuit itself. In Simon DeBart@m., L.P. v. Richard E. Jacoledp. Inc.

186 F.3d 157 (2d Cir. 1999),ghateJudge Milton Pollack imposed Rule §anctiors upon both
DeBartolo and its counsel for filinglawsuit which alleged that defendants had violated Rules
10b-5 and 10b-13, and sought, in part, injunctive relief. Judge Pollack found that DeBartolo
lacked standing to sue because it was neither a purchaser nor seller of thesatusgue. The
Second Circuit reversed the sanction as tdihle 10b5 claim, noting thatCraneprovides at

least a good faith basis for DeBartolo’s assertion of standilgigdt 171. But the Second
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Circuit explicitly refrained from holding that DeBartolo had standfftip be clear, we do not

hold that DeBartolo had standing to seek an injunction; that issue is not before us. We hold only
that, as an external competitor seeking only injunctive relief, DeBartolodyduad standing
underCrane.” Id. It noted that:

we have recognized that thglie Chip Stamps-Birnbaum
rule does not necessarily extend to actions seeking
injunctive relief. InCrane 11| although we concluded that

a disappointed tender offeror could not assert a claim for
damages under Rule 1@bbecause it was not itself a
defrauded investor, we nonetheless found that plaintiff had
standing to assert a claim for injunctive relief.

Id. at 170(citation omitted)

SinceBlue Chip, the Second Circuit has not explicitly ruled on the question of
whether claims for injunctive relief pursuant to section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 may lgatbrou
where the plaintiff is1either a purchaser nseller of securities on a domestic markehis
Court holds that Mutugbhareshas been overruled by Blue Chip. This conclugaonsistent

with the observations of Judge CotBlobal Intellicom Inc., 1999 WL 544708, at *8. On the

other hangdsome courts in this district haveadSecond Circuit precedent asthorizing
plaintiffs to bring injunctive claims pursuant to section 10(b) and Rule ¥ieib absent a

connection to dpurchase or sale” of securitieuchs v. Swanton Corp., 482 F. Supp. 83, 89

(S.D.N.Y. 1979) (Sand, J.); Langner v. Brown, 913 F. Supp. 260, 270 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) (Sand, J.)

(“well-established Second Circuit precedent hold[s] that, in seeking injunctiveuratief a §
10(b) claim, a plaintiff does not have to show damages in connection with the purchasefor sale o

any secuty.”) (citing Mutual SharesndPacker v. YampoIl630 F. Supp. 1237, 1242 (S.D.N.Y.

3 The opinion inGlobal Intellicomwas issued the day before the Second Circuit isBe@&hrtolo DeBartolg a
partial reversal of a sanction order, is not an authorizafitime plaintiff's action for injunctive relief.
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1986) (Connor, J.) (noting in dicthat“courts have stated that shareholders who were not
purchasers or sellers may bring 10b-5 actions for injunctive reliéf.”)).

c. The Holdings of Other Circuits

Only one circuit has reached the precise question of whether Blud&sipn

injunctive claim under section 10(b) and Rule 10bHsent a connection to a “purchase or sale

of securities.In Cowin v. Bresler, 741 F.2d 410 (D.C. Cir. 1984 District of Columbia

Circuit held that a minority shareholder who had not alleged a relevant purchaseadr sal
securities lacked standing to seek injunctive relief pursuant to section 10(blilentDB-5,
concludingthat, “[w]hile it may be possible to discern differences between an action for
damages and a suit for an injunction, most of the Supreme Court’s argurBérg @hip
applies quite as much to the latter as to the formiek.at 424.

The courtstatedthat “the question aivhat constitutes the proper plaintiff class
under section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 cannatdieclusivelydetermined byesort tothe text of
those enactments; as one might expect, neither the statute nor the rule spetiksadthe
guestion of who may susince the right to sue was created afterwards by the judiciaky.”
(emphasis in original)Further, he courtnoted that|[s]till, in the process of implying private
rights, judges must take account of the statutory scheme. No better guidatséhaxi the
language of the relevant statute and regulatidd. {citations omitted).It held that “the relaxed
standing requirement . . . would be contrary to the rationale of section 10(b) and R&laslLOb-

perceived by the Supreme Court in Blue Chifd?”

4 In Packer plaintiffs alleged that they had made purchases based on misrepresent&80 F. Supp. at 1239. The
district court found that the complaint failed to allege an injury. Judgedasjected the plaintiff's argument that
“so long as the plaintiff is an owner of the affected securities, he hasrgfdadiue to enjoin fraudulent practices.”
Id. at 1242.
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The D.C. Circuit also rejected the plaintiff’'s argument that relaxing thehpaer
seller requirement would not contradict the policy rationale set forth in Blue Qhige
thought this question open, we might conclude that injunctive p@sent many of the same
problems of vexatiousness, ‘strike’ suits, abuse of discovery, and the like thaedactiags do.
We need not decide that, however, for we think the approach appellant suggests istblclos
Blue Chipitself.” 1d. at 42425. Further, the court stated that “[ijn cases of doubt, the
institutional role of the Supreme Court weighs in favor of considering its rubngs ¢general
rather than limited to the particular factdd. at 425. “[In_Blue Chip] . . . the Court gave eye
indication that it wished to speak broadlyd. The D.C. Circuit concluded that Blue Chip
applied to claims for injunctive relief.

Othercircuits have statenh dictathat a plaintiff seeking injunctive relief would
have standing pursuant to Rule 10b-5. The Fifth Circuit approvellinfal Shares dicta after

Blue Chip. Dauvis v. Davis, 526 F.2d 1286, 1290 (5th Cir. 1976) (“[T]he element of specificity

that accompanies a strict insistence on a purchase or sale . . . is not asrcatsat br

injunctive relief as it is where damages are sought.”). aBedelletier v. Stuarfames Co.,

Inc., 863 F.2d 1550, 1558 n.15 (11th Cir. 1989) (noting, in dicta, Theg|] policy
considerations [at issue in Blue Chip] would not require the dismissal of a suitioctiag
relief, however, since a plaintiff seeking an injunction is quite often successtisely because
he cannot alculate the damages he suffers”)

A number of circuits have declined to address the open question of wBktber

Chip applies to purely injunctive claim&eeTrump Hotels & Casino Resorts, Inc. v. Mirage

Resorts InG.140 F.3d 478, 486 (3rd Cir. 1998) (“[W]e have yet to decide whether a non-

purchasing or non-selling plaintiff continues to have standing to seekinemelief for an
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alleged 10b-5 violation aft@lue Chip StampsHowever, resolution of that question must await

yet another day as we need not now decide it to resolve the casé)afldaanced Resources

Intern., Inc. v. TriStar Petroleum Cp4 F.3d 327, 332 (4th Cir. 1993) (“We need not today

decide whether to endorse the exception tdthe Chip standing rule . .”); Westinghouse

Credit Corp. v. Bader & Dufty, 627 F.2d 221 (10th Cir. 1980) (“We do not feel compelled to

here decide whethdhne rule of Blue Chip Stamps applies to a private action under Rule 10b-5

which is purely injunctive in nature, . ) .

d. Application of the Blue Chip Rule to this Case

i. Statutory Requirement of Purchaser or Seller Status is the
Samein the Case of a Clan for Injunctive Relief

Thelanguage of the statussmdthe explicit holding of the Supreme CourtBlue
Chip lead this Court to conclude that Blue Chars claims for injunctive relief absent a
purchase or sale of securitieShere is no reason to depart from the express holdiBtuef
Chip, which notably is not limited to damage actiof\&fe therefore hold that respondent was
not entitled to sue for violation of Rule 10b-5. . Id. at 755. As the D.C. Circuit stated, the
statutory limitation, thestructure of the '34 Act, and thefusalof Congress to expand the
language of section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 “constrain us to accept, in the context of an injunctive
suit, the common meaning of the terms ‘purchase or sale’ and reject an expansivettomsf

the Rule, aglue Chip did for damage actionsCorwin, 741 F.2d at 424.

ii. The Policy Considerations Also Favor Application of the Rule
to Claims for Injunctive Relief

Many of the sameolicy concerns raised by the Court in Blue Ofeimain
applicable to a claim for injunctive relie¥While some of the concerisvebeen mitigated by
the amendments to Rule 11, Fed. R. Civ. P., introduced in 1983, and the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, 15 U.S.C. § 78uthere are seriouoacerns presented by
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claims for injunctive relief by asserted by mere holders of shares. A fedeuaities suit for
money damages under Rule 1®bften derives its settlement clout because it is brought as a
class action. By invoking Rule 23, Fed. R. Civ. P., the size of the claim may be vasiiyled.
However, the claim is subject to the dictates of Rule 23, which provide important judicial
oversight. There must be a finding that the representative parties Wylldiatt adequately
protect the class. Rule 23(a)(4)he appointment of class counsel is suljeqidicial review
and counsel must fairly and adequately represent the interests of the clas23(Bul A

certified class action may not be settled or voluntarily dismissed without congplaiinc
rigorous procedural and substantive requirements. Rule 23(e).

In contrast, a single shareholder seeking to invoke Rule 10b-5 to enjoin a
transaction owes no duty to anyaglse The transaction may be highly advantageous to other
sharehtders but, short of seeking to intervene in the action, these other shareholders have no say
in the matter. The suing single shareholder may at any time settle the claimmaniyiu
dismiss the claim in exchange for payment of a sum of money meastitegthe potential
harm to that individual shareholder but by the potential injury to the dafiérdr its other
shareholders—in having the overall transaction enjoined. The danger of abukeviisat
and the tools present under Rule 23 are not available to the Court.

Additionally, in the prototypical Rule 10b-5 action, the plaintiff has suffered a
loss because hw she bought at a price inflated by a fraudulent misstatement or non-disclosure
and sold at a lower price after the truth was disclostzte, the plaintiff purports to have
alleged a fraud by defendants. Presumahhpugh the public filing of the complaint, much of
the world now knows of the supposed fraud. Necessarily, the plaintiff can no longer be

reasonably relying upon the offending statements by defendasithudge Conner notedjj]f
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such corrective disclosures were ordered, they would almost certainly bayseé of {he
stock to drop. Thus, ironically, the very relief that plaintiffs seek could becomeube cbthei
only injury.” Packer 630 F. Supp. at 1241.

Not all policy concerns cut in favor barringa holderfrom bringinga claim for
injunctive relief. AsJudge Friendlyas noted, injunctive relief has the great efficiency of

permitting the lawfulness of @urse of conduct to be tested before closilgc. Specialty Co.

v. Int'l Controls Corp., 409 F.2d 937, 947 (2d Cir. 1969). But, in cases such as this one, the SEC

has the ability to seek injunctive relief. 15 U.S.C. § 78u(dXELC v. National Secities, Inc,

393 U.S. 453, 467 n.9 (1969\either before nor sindglue Chiphaveprivate injunctiveactions
under Rule 10b-By mere holders of a securitgen a material part of the regulatory landscape.
Also, on a claim for injunctive relief, fact finding é®@nductedexclusively by the
court. Thus, the fact finder for “hazy issues of historical fact the proof ohvad@pended
almost entirely on oral testimony” wtal be a court and not a jurlue Chp, 421 U.S. at 743.
TheBlue Chip majority noted that the policy considerations were not all one-
sided in that casé]. at 73839, 749, nor are they here. But, on balance, the Court comfortably
concludes that policy considerations of the type that liedae holding irBlue Chip apply with
equal force here.

ii. Cartica is not a Purchaser or Seller within the Meaning of
Section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5

“Section 10(b) reaches the use of a manipulative or deceptive device or
contrivance only in connection witheé purchase or sale of a security listed on an American
stock exchange, and the purchase or sale of any other security in the Unitet] $tatdson v.

National Australia Bank Ltd561 U.S. 247, 273 (2010). CorpBanca stock is listed on the

Santiago Sick Exchange and the Chilean Electronic Exchange. (Am. Compl. § 39.) CorpBanca
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ADRs are traded on the NYSE. (Am. Compl. § 403rtica purchased CorpBanca ADRs on
January 18, 2013, about a year before the proposed merger was announced. (Am. Compl.  33.)
These purchases could not have been in connection with false statements abodbthe yet
disclosed merger:in December 2013 and early January 20CHrtica “purchased an
additional 188 million CorpBanca shares” and “[ijn February 2014 . . ic@gtrchased an
additional 2 billion CorpBanca shares.” (Am. Compl. 1 103, 1068se purchases are not
alleged to have been made in the United States, and do notMmdeson, qualify as purchases
under section 10(b).

Cartica bases itsection D(b) and Rule 10b-5 claim solely on “its ownership of
CorpBanca ADRs traded on the NYSE.” (Mem. in Opp. at 17 i€&arficadid not allege that it
purchased or sold sharesa transaction based in the United Statesonnection with the
alleged misrepresentations or omissions. Cartica’s purchase of CorpBaRsaoA&urred prior
to the alleged misrepresentations or omissidbartica’s extraterritorial purchases are not within
the reach of section 10(b). Cartica has not alleged a purchase or sale of a secomigction
with its claim pursuant to section 10(b) or Rule 10b-5.

Accordingly, Cartica’s claim pursuant to section 10(b) and Rule 1iil-be
dismissed.

V. The Section 13(d) Claim for Injunctive Relief

The Amended Complaint, filed on June 12, 2014, alleges that Saieh, Corp Group,
andltauformed a‘group” as defined by 17 C.F.R. § 240.13¢)(1) by entering into the

Transaction Agreement, and thus incurred obligations to file a Schedule IB® Transaction

5 As a shareholder, Cartica has standing to bring a claim for a violat®ectitn 13(d), which has no purchaser or
seller requiremenRondeau v. Mosinee Paper Co#2 U.S. 49, 62 (19758AF Corp. v. Milstein453 F.2d 709,
719 n.21 (2d Cir. 1971). The Court assumes without deciding thes jurisdiction over the Itat defendants and
that they were properly served.
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Agreement provides that (i) Corp Group and CorpBanca Colombia wiltlveiteshares of
CorpBanca common stock and CorpBanca Colombia common stock in favor of the transactions
and against any acquisition proposals; and (ii) Corp Group and CogpRBéhnot transfer any
shares of CorpBanca or CorpBanca Columbia stock or take any action that woltlish t€srp
Group or CorpBanca not having the “full and exclusive power to vote such shares.” (Slocum
Decl. Ex. 8.1 §4.@).)

Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 78m(d), requires “beneficial
owners” to disclose the acquisition of beneficial ownership of more than fivenpefce
company’s equity securities within ten days of purchase. “[T]he goal of § $3(@alert the
marketplaced every large, rapid aggregation or accumulation of securities . . . which might

represent a potential shift in corporate control.” CSX Corp. v. Children’s Inv. Fund Mgt (

LLP, 654 F.3d 276, 286 (2d Cir. 2011) (quoting Treadway Cos, Inc. v. Care Corp., 638 F.2d 357,

380 (2d Cir. 1980)). “[T]he interests that section 13(d) protects ‘are fully sdtisfien the
shareholders receive the information required to be fileidL.”

a. Post-Amended Complaint Disclosures

CorpBanca and Itau have filed Schedu® Hisclosures in response to Cartica’s
allegations. On May 29, 2014, the Corp Group defendants filed a Schedute(S3izum
Decl. Ex. 12.) On June 24, 2014, the Corp Group defendants filed an amendment to the
Schedule 13D filed on May 29, 2014. (Slocum Decl. Ex. 15.) The amendment noted that:

Certain third parties have alleged that the Reporting

Persons may be deemed to be members of a “group” within

the meaning of Section 13(d) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended, with Itall Unibanco Holding S.A.
and Banco Itau Chile as a result of the arrangements in the

8 The disclosure, filed on May 29, 2014, listed May 14, 2009 as the triggerimfpddte filing. 15 U.S.C. §
78m(d)(1)requires a party to file a Schedule 13D disclosure within &gs df the triggering datddowever, once
disclosure is madéhe interests which sectidr3(d) protectsare satisfied.See CSX Corp, 654 F.3cat 286.
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Transaction Agreement. The Reporting Persons expressly
disclaim membership in a group with Itad Unibanco
Holding S.A. and Banco Itau Chile as of the date hereof.
The Reporting Persons, however, expect that they will
become members of a “group” with Itatl Unibanco Holding
S.A. upon the closing of the merger contemplated by the
Transaction Agreement and the Reporting Persons’
entering into the Ital Shareholders Agreement with Itad
Unibanco Holding S.A. in connection with the closing of
the merger.

(Slocum Decl. Ex. 15 at 3.)

On July 7, 2014, Itad Unibanco Holding S.A. filed a Scied3D relating to the
common shares of CorpBanca. (Rodriguez Decl. Ex. 3.) The Itau Schedule 13ihabted
Cartica’s complaint alleged that Itat and Itat Chile each acquired beneficiatsiip of the
CorpBanca common stock owned by Corp Group. The Schedule 13D disclaimed beneficial
ownership of such shares. (Rodriguez Decl. Ex. 3.) Additionally, the Itad Schedule 13D
disclosedhat:

Furthermore, the Cartica Complaint alleges that the
Reporting Person, along with Itad Chile, Gasa, ICGI and
Alvaro Saieh Bendeck, a citizen of the Republic of Chile,
constitute a “group” under Section 13(d) of the Exchange
Act as a result of certain provisions of the Transaction
Agreement. The Reporting Person (on behalf of itself and
its subsidiaries, including Itau Chile) expressly disclaims
membership in such a group at all times since the execution
of the Transaction @reement and as of the date hereof.

The Reporting Person, however, expects that it will become
members of “group” with CGHI, ICGI, Gasa, CGB and
Saga upon the Reporting Person’s entering into the Itau
Shareholders Agreement with such persons in connection
with the closing of the Chilean Merger.

To the Reporting Person’s knowledge, no shares of
Common Stock are beneficially owned by any of the
Controlling Shareholders or the persons identified in Annex
A.

The Reporting Person is not (i) entitiedany rights as a
stockholder of the Issuer with respect to any shares of
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Common Stock and (ii) has no power to vote, direct the
voting of, dispose of, or direct the disposal of, any shares of
Common Stock other than the power provided pursuant to
the Tiansaction Agreement.

Id. The Ital Schedule 13D also stated that “[n]othing in this Statement shahdteued as an
admission that any transaction described herein took place in the United StasgsSaction
13(d) of the Exchange Act applies extraterially to any of the Reporting Person or to the
Reporting Person’s (or Itat Chile’s) entry into the Transaction Agreemkht.”

The June and July disclosures have cured any inadequacies in the previously filed
Schedule 13D and the market has had more than ample time to absorb the information. The
transactiorwas announced in January. The Transaction Agreement and Shareholders Agreement
were made public in March. Corp Group and Itau filed their Schedule 13D disclosures and
amendments in May, June, and July 2014. The defendants have maintained that a shareholder
vote would not be held until at least September 2, 2014, and is expected to occur sometime in
November 2014. (Docket # 49, 117.) “When . . . a corrective fdimgade and adequate
opportunity is provided for the information that it contains to be digested by shareholders, th

corrective injunction should be terminatedCN Pharmaceuticals, Inc. v. Khah F.3d 484, 489

(2d Cir. 1993). The Schedule 13D disclossweremade with ample time for shareholders to

review prior to a shareholder vot8eeDrobbin v. Nicolet Instrument Corp., 631 F. Supp. 860,

914 (S.D.N.Y. 1986) (enjoining defendant from voting shares until ten days after disclosure)

b. Group Status

“When two or more persons agree to act together for the purpose of acquiring,
holding, voting or disposing of equity securities of an issuer, the group formed thieadlilhyes
deemed to have acquired beneficial ownership, for purposes of sections 13())afritie Act,

as of the date of such agreement, of all equity securities of that issuer bdgefiened by any
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such persons.” 17 C.F.R. § 240.15)(1). Cartica claims that Corp Group and Ital have not
made adequate or curatidesclosures in their Schedule 13D filingscause those filings refute
Cartica’s allegation that they have entered into a “gfo@artica argues that in ruling on a Rule
12(b)(6) motion, the Court must accept as fact its allegation that Itatl and Corp Groed &
group for the purposes of section 13(d). “The questions of (a) whether two or more persons
‘act[ed]’ as a group or agreed to act together, and (b) whether their purpo$e\@aquisition,

holding, or disposition of an issuer’s equity securities are quesifdast.” Roth v. Jennings

489 F.3d 499, 508 (2d Cir. 2007)[Tthe alleged group members need not be committed to
‘acquiring, holding, voting, or disposing of equity securities’ on certain speddrens, but
rather they need only have combined to further a common objective regarding one of the just

recited activities.”Morales v. Quintel Entm’t, Inc., 249 F.3d 115, 124 (2d Cir. 20@rtica

alleges that the Transaction Agreement made Corp Groulpadralgroup pursuant to the
securities laws, a fact they have admitted in their disclosures.

The Court need not determine whet@artica has plausibly alleged thiae Corp
Group defendants anthl have formed a groug‘Any person may expressly declare in any
statement filed that the filing sluch statement shall not be construed as an admission that such
person is, for the purposes of section 13(d) or 13(g) of the Act, the beneficial owner of any
securities covered by the statement.” 17 C.F.R. 8§ 240.13d-4. Additionally, a party is not

required to admit allegations in a Schedule 13D thdisjputes in good faith. Taro Pharm. Indus.

Ltd. v. Sun Pharm. Indus. Ltd., @9-8262, 2010 WL 2835548, at *13 (S.D.N.Y. July 13, 2010).

The defendants have a good faith basis for disputing “group” status. Although the Second
Circuit has not ruled on whether a person can be a member of a “group” without being a

“beneficial owner,” a court in this district drtiwo drcuits have held that beneficial ownership of
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the equity securities is nhecessary in order to be a member of a “grodefireed in section

13(d). Transcon Lines v. A.G. Becker Inc., 470 F. Supp. 356, 373 (S.D.N.Y. 1979) (“[l]n light

of the purpose of Section 13(d) as evidermgthe legislative history and as interpreted by other
courts in analogous cases, the better rule is that one who is not the beneficial camyesiadres
of the subject company is not a member of a group within the meaning of Section I3(d)(3)

Rosenberg v. XM Ventures, 274 F.3d 137, 145 (3d Cir. 2001) (“[O]ne who does not have

beneficial ownership of the equity securities of an issuer cannot be a manalgnoup of

individuals that do have beneficial ownershipBHemispherx Biopharma, Inc. v. Johannesburg

Consol. Inv, 553 F.3d 1351 (11th Cir. 2008) (“[A] beneficial ownership interest in securities is
necessary to become a member of a group within the meaning of section 13(d)¢3) of t
Exchange Act.”)

Cartica alleges that Itau has beneficial owhgr of CorpBanca stock through the
Transaction Agreement. The defendants argueQhgtca has not plausibly alleged thize
Corp Group defendants have entered into a group with Ital because Itadlisgeat to be a
beneficial owner of CorpBanca seitiesas that term is defined by the SEC’s regulatioAs
beneficial owner of a security:

includes any person who, directly or indirectly, through any

contract, arrangement, understanding, relationship, or

otherwise has or shares:

(1) Voting power which includes the power to vote,
or to direct the voting of, such security; and/or,

(2) Investment power which includes the power to
dispose, or to direct the disposition of, such
security.

17 C.F.R. § 240.13d-3(a).
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“[B]eneficial ownership can arise out ‘@arrangements,’ ‘relationships,” and

‘devices,’” as well as ‘contracts’ and ‘understanding&’E.C. v. Drexel Burnham Lambert, Inc.

837 F. Supp. 587, 608 (S.D.N.Y. 1993). “[T]he inquiry focuses on any relationshigpsizat,
factual matterconfers on a person a significant ability to affect how voting power or investment
power will be exercised, because it is primarily designed to ensure tirselgglire of market
sensitive data about changes in the identity of those who are able, as a pracatiaip]e¢an
influence the use of that powerld. (emphasis in original) (quotation marks and citation
omitted). The Court need not determine whether the Transaction Agreeor@stsbeneficial
owner status on ItatA beneficial owner must have eitherdting power” or “investment
power” as defined by 17 C.F.R. § 240.13d-3. The Transaction Agreement does not provide Itau
with either voting power or investment poweit explicitly notes that Corp Group will direct the
voting of its shares and the shares of CorpBanca Coloribi@Transaction Agreement states
that Corp Group retains “the full and exclusive ability to vote” its CorpBancasshare
contractually obligates Corp Group to vote its shares in favor of the transactionjdees ot
shift “voting power” or “investment power” to ltaBecause the agreement does not explicitly
provide Itat with theightsof a beneficial owner, Cartica’s allegation that the defendants have
formed a group is not controlling.

At most there is a disputed question as to whether Corp Group and Itad have
formed a group Corp Group and Itat have made adequate disclosuttesinischedule 13D
filings which both note Cartica’s contentions in this action and refute the conteritMghen, as
here, the record demongta that there is a dispute as to the facts, the law requires only that the
disputed facts and possible outcomes be disclosed. This is the limit of the lawtheress

reason to believe that the facts are not genuinely in dispute. In the casd,dhbee is no
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reason to believe that they are not genuinely in dispute.” Avnet, Inc. v. Scope Indus., 499 F.

Supp. 1121, 1125-26 (S.D.N.Y. 1980). The disclosures, which explain Cartica’s complaint,
refute the allegations, and disclaim that Itat has fdrangroup with the Corp Group defendants,
were sufficient. Ital’s Schedule 13D disclosure disclaimed beneficial ovates sf
CorpBanca securities.
Additionally, the Schedule 13Ds put investors on notice of the fact that Itad and
Corp Group will form a “group” upon the closing of the transaction. Because the SHarshol
Agreement has not yet been signed, and will not be signed until the transactisnitlese
reasonabléor Corp Group and Itau to state that they have not yet formed a group as defined in
section 13(d). In the interest of disclosure, the Schedule 13Ds didabosepectation that they
will form a group upon closingAs in Avnet, an admission at this point by the defendants that
Itau is a “beneficial owner” of CorpBanca securities or a member of a “grotip’tivé Corp
Group defendants “may actually render the Schedule 13D fafsmét, 499 F. Supp. at 1126.
Accordingly, Cairica’s claim pursuant to section 13(d) and Rule 13xhkd 13eb
will be dismissed.

V. Section20(a) Liability

“To establish a prima facie case of control person liability, a plaintiff must sho
(1) a primary violation by the controlled person, (2) control of the primary violgttred
defendant, and (3) that the defendant was, in some meaningful sense, a culpaiganartite
controlled person’s fraud.ATSI, 493 F.3d at 108Because the complaint fails to plead a
primary violationof section 10(b)Rule 10b-5, section 13(d), Rule 13d-1 or Rule 13ths,

Section 20(a) claiswill be dismissed.
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VI. Common Law Fraud Claim

The Court has dismissed Cartica’s federal securities claims. Cartica pleads that
the Court maintains subject matter jurisdiction oleCGount V, the common law fraud claim,
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a)(3). Cartica has improperly pled jurisdiction. (Am. Compl.
27.) Plaintiffs include a limited liability company and limited partnership. (Arm&@of{ 31
32.) For the purpose determining whether diversity jurisdiction exists, an LLC or an LP is

considered to have the citizenshipatifof its membersBayerische Landesbank, New York

Branch v. Aladdin Capital Mgmt. LLC, 692 F.3d 42, 49 (2d Cir. 2012), Herrick Co., Inc. v. SCS

Commc'ns, Inc, 251 F.3d 315, 322 (2d Cir. 2001Rlaintiff Cartica Capital Partners Master, LP,

has partners who are citizens of the Bailiwick of Jersey and the Caymadslsl(Slocum Decl.
Ex. 14 § 4.) Cartica has not alleged that any defendanttizencf the United States.
“[Dliversity is lacking . . . where on one side there @tens and aliens and on the opposite

side there are only aliensUniversal Licensing Corp. v. Paola del Lungo S.p.A., 293 F.3d 579,

581 (2d Cir. 2002).

Accordingy, jurisdiction over Cartica’s state law claim is premise@8mhJ.S.C.
§ 1367(a). A district court “may decline to exercise supplemental jurisdictioractaim under
subsection (a) if . . . the district court has dismissed all claims over which itigpaslo
jurisdiction . . ..” 28 U.S.C. 8§ 1367(c)(3).h&@ Second Circuit has made clear that the Court

discretion “is not boundless.Yalencia ex rel. Franco v. Le816 F.3d 299, 305 (2d Cir. 2003).

“In deciding whether to exercise jurisdiction over supplemental-atelaims, district courts
shouldbalance the values of judicial economy, convenience, fairnessoamty—the ‘Cohill

factors.” Klein & Co. Futures, Inc. v. Bd. of Trade of N.Y., 464 F.3d 255, 262 (2d Cir. 2006)

(citing CarnegieMellon Univ. v. Cohill, 484 U.S. 343, 350 (1988)[l]n the usual case in

which all federalaw claims are eliminated before trial, the balance of factors to be considered
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under the pendent jurisdiction doctrine—judicial economy, convenience, fairness, and comity—
will point toward declining to exercise jurisdiction over the remaining state-law claims.” Cohill,
484 U.S. at 350 n.7.

Because Cartica’s federal claims are herein dismissed and none of the Cohill
factors suppoits exercising supplemental jurisdiction over the remaining state law claim,
plaintiff’s state law claims will be dismissed without prgjudice.

CONCLUSION

-For the foregoing reasons, the motions to dismiss brought by defendants
CorpBanca S.A., Alvaro Saieh Bendeck, Corp Group Banking S.A., and Saga (Docket # 60) and
Ttau Unibanco Holding S.A. and Banco Itat Chile (Docket # 78) are granted, and the amended
complaint is dismissed. As all claims are dismissed against all defendants, the directors and
officers’ supplemental motion to dismiss (Docket # 64) is granted. The Court need not reach the
alternate grounds for dismissal asserted by defendants, including that the Amended Complaint
does not meet the pleading standards of Rule 9(b), Fed. R. Civ. P, or the Private Securities

Litigation Reform Act of 1995, 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4.

50 ORDERED. W

P. Kevin Castel
United States District Judge

Dated: New York, New York
September 25, 2014
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